
Workforce Panel 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Workforce Panel to be held as follows for 
the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 26 February 2019

TIME: 11.45 am

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 January 2019 (Pages 1 - 2)

4  Pay Policy Statement / Pay Matters (Pages 3 - 26)

5  Any Other Business 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 793 3316
Carol Eddleston E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



WORKFORCE PANEL

Held on Tuesday 22 January 2019 

Meeting started at 11:15 a.m.
Meeting ended at 12:02 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor John Ferguson – Lead Member for Workforce and Industrial Relations – in 
the chair

Councillors Derek Antrobus, Paula Boshell, Christine Harrison, Bill Hinds, Tracy Kelly, 
David Lancaster, John Merry and Gina Reynolds

OFFICERS: Sam Betts Assistant Director HR & OD
Frank O’Sullivan Strategic HR & OD Manager
Jim Taylor Chief Executive
Carol Eddleston Senior Democratic Services Advisor

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of City Mayor Paul Dennett and Councillors Lisa 
Stone and Les Turner.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

3. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2018 were approved as a correct record.

4. SALFORD CITY COUNCIL’S APPRENTICESHIP STRATEGY

The Lead Member for Workforce and Industrial Relations invited the Assistant Director HR & OD 
and the Strategic HR & OD Manager to present the Council’s draft Apprenticeship Strategy.

The panel was informed that adopting a more strategic approach to how the authority attracted, 
retained and developed its workforce to meet organisational needs, both now and in the future, 
was vital and the draft apprenticeship strategy offered an opportunity to provide routes into the 
organisation and also to enable the existing workforce to undertake relevant professional skills 
qualifications. In addition it would allow the authority to maximise the opportunities provided by 
the apprenticeship levy, ensuring that the fund was fully utilised and avoid any underspend 
being returned to central government. The draft strategy also enabled the authority to gift a 
proportion of levy funds to local non-levy paying SMEs to grow and develop apprenticeships for 
their own current and future workforce. SMEs which applied would be able to access funding for 
apprenticeship training and, where necessary, to support some employment costs.

Members of the panel applauded the opportunities that the strategy was designed to provide 
for both new & existing staff at both the Council and small & medium sized organisations 
elsewhere in the city. 

The Assistant Director HR & OD and the Strategic HR & OD Manager responded to questions and 
observations from members of the panel:

The Council had recently established a partnership with Salford City College and the University of 
Salford to deliver a range of apprenticeships to support the Council with its apprenticeship 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



ambitions. Both establishments were fully committed and had employed a full-time equivalent 
based at the Civic Centre to work with us on tailoring apprenticeships to our needs. Discussions 
had started more recently with the BBC and the Lowry about possible collaboration in the 
future. It was noted that in the longer term there may well be a skills shortage in the 
environmental sector and it was suggested that the Council should consider entering into 
discussions with organisations such as the Environment Agency and United Utilities.

Councillors Ferguson, Hinds and Walsh would continue to be briefed on developments in their 
capacity as Lead Members and Executive Support Member but quarterly or biannual progress 
reports could be brought to Workforce Panel or Cabinet Briefing it members so wished.

The Council had a good understanding of the wider workforce in health and care and a good 
understanding of the demographic profile. There was also a good awareness of skills shortages 
but these were more difficult to identify in areas where roles were changing rapidly especially 
due to digital developments.

Current projections showed that the Council was likely to achieve 2.5% of the workforce 
undertaking apprenticeships in 2018/19 which was above the statutory target of 2.3%. 
Consequently we were unlikely to be in a position where central government would seek to claw 
back any of the available funds.

In drawing the discussion to a close the Lead Member for Workforce and Industrial Relations 
welcomed the positive ambitions of the strategy to benefit both the Council and the wider city. 

RESOLVED: THAT, the Apprenticeship Strategy be approved.

Page 2



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO. 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, HR AND ORGANISATIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT

TO WORKFORCE PANEL

ON 

26th FEBRUARY 2019

TITLE: PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2019/20

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

THAT the content of the draft Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20 be noted and 
commended for approval by Council at its meeting on 20th March 2019.

THAT the gender pay gap information is noted including the publication 
requirements.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Salford City Council prides ourselves on being an exemplar employer ensuring that 
all of our remuneration and wider workforce strategies, policy frameworks, 
procedures and practice reflect the commitments in the Employment Standards 
Charter leading the way to make Salford a great place to work.  

In order to promote openness and accountability in local pay arrangements, the 
Localism Act 2011 requires the authority to prepare, approve and publish a pay 
policy statement.  This statement must articulate the council’s policies towards a 
range of issues relating to the pay of the workforce, particularly its senior staff and its 
lowest paid employees.

The Statement for 2019/20 has been updated to reflect the national pay agreement 
for 2018 and 2019. This two-year agreement addressed the changes required to 
meet the national living wage ensuring that the national pay spine met the proposed 
increases over the two years.
In addition to a general percentage uplift in pay, the 2018 to 2020 pay agreement for 
those employees covered by the NJC for Local Government Services (Green Book) 
also introduces a new national pay spine from 1 April 2019.

Salford City Council were the first local authority in the North West to reach a 
collective agreement through negotiation with the Trade Unions to agree our local 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



2

approach to implementing the pay changes. This report sets out further details of the 
new pay arrangements. 

In line with the Equality Act 2010 (specific duties and public authorities’ regulations 
2017) Salford City Council is also publishing for the second year details of our gender 
pay gap. The Council has seen a reduction of 1.2% in the mean gender pay gap and 
3.9% in the median gender pay gap. The report provides further detail on the 
analysis and actions taken over the last 12 months. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

KEY DECISION: YES / NO

DETAILS:

1. Introduction

Salford City Council pride ourselves on being an exemplar employer ensuring that all 
of our remuneration and wider workforce strategies, policy frameworks, procedures 
and practice reflect the commitments in the Employment Standards Charter leading 
the way to make Salford a great place to work.  

As an exemplar the City Council has a key role to play in setting an equitable pay 
structure and ensuring those in the lowest paid jobs receive a fair living wage. The 
changes to the national pay spine as a result of the national pay agreement for 2018 
and 2019, has resulted in the need for new local pay arrangements from 1st April 
2019. This has had a positive impact on all employees covered by the NJC for Local 
Government Services terms and conditions with a minimum 2% increase across all 
spinal column points (SCP) and those at the lower end of the pay spine receiving 
increases of over 7%.  

As we continue to transform our services to the public we are reshaping our 
workforce so that we retain and develop people with the right skills, abilities and 
potential to help shape how we deliver place based, integrated services and make 
Salford a fairer and better place to live and work.  With a commitment to workforce 
development and ‘growing our own’ we continue to maximise apprenticeship 
opportunities through our apprenticeship strategy. Organisationally we are committed 
to developing the skills and capability of our workforce to meet the changing 
requirements in public service.  We continue to focus on attracting, developing and 
retaining a talented workforce whilst creating employment opportunities for Salford 
residents.  

The City Council continues to offer a wide range of employee benefits including 
flexible working arrangements, access to a low cost green car scheme, reduced gym 
membership and childcare vouchers which, as an additional benefit, can be 
accessed through salary sacrifice arrangements.  This combined with our genuine 
commitment to building an inclusive workplace through supporting and valuing 

Page 4



3

diversity has enabled us to attract, recruit, develop and retain a high proportion of 
female employees representing over 70% of our workforce.

Fairness, equity and transparency are of utmost importance when setting pay policy 
and the council takes steps to ensure that there is no pay discrimination within its pay 
structures and in determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees.  This 
is monitored through the annual Equal Pay Audit.  In addition, a range of valid, 
objective and robust job evaluation schemes are used to size, score and rank all 
posts and these are applied consistently with outcomes acted upon and 
implemented.  

2. Pay Policy Statement

Under section 38 of the Localism Act, local authorities are required to publish a pay 
policy statement annually.  This statement must articulate the council’s policies 
towards a range of issues relating to the pay of the workforce, particularly its senior 
staff and its lowest paid employees. 

The Pay Policy Statement relates to employees of Salford City Council whose 
remuneration, including rate of pay and terms and conditions, are determined 
by and within the control of the authority.  It therefore does not apply to 
teachers; support staff in schools and academies or individuals employed by a 
third party.

A draft Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20 has been updated to reflect the new pay 
model reached through collective agreement with the recognised trade unions and is 
attached at Appendix 1 for consideration by the Workforce Panel before it is 
commended to full council for approval.

3. National Pay Negotiations

The national pay agreement for 2018 and 2019 was agreed on the 10th April 2018, 
the two year agreement addressed the changes required to meet the national living 
wage ensuring that the national pay spine met the proposed increases over the next 
two years.

The first year (2018) of the agreement was ‘bottom loaded’ to close the gap with the 
national living wage and meant that the bottom spinal column points (SCP) saw an 
increase of up to 9.19% with all SCP’s over point 20 receiving 2%.  

The second year (2019) provides for a pay award of 2% across all SCP’s however in 
order to manage the national living wage increases there has also been a 
fundamental review of the national pay spine with a new spine implemented on 1st 
April 2019.

A separate agreement was also reached by the JNC for Chief Officers and the JNC 
for Chief Executives of a 2% uplift for 2018 and 2019.

The 2018 pay award was implemented and backdated to April 2018. The 
implementation of the 2019 changes have however required a period of negotiation 

Page 5



4

with the joint Trade Unions which commenced in October 2018 to reach a collective 
agreement on a new local pay model which was signed in December 2018.

These discussions were based around a number of key principles that were agreed 
from the outset which included: 

 All employees must receive a minimum 2% increase in line with the national 
agreement;

 No employee to suffer a detriment;
 Model of least disruption;
 Retain the integrity of the current pay model;
 Retain grading structure 1A – 5C based on the same job evaluation points;
 No requirement to use all pay points;
 Spot points or shorter grades at the bottom end;
 No more than 5 increments in each grade;
 A consistent approach to increments and assimilation to be applied; and
 Completion of an equal pay audit.

It should be noted that this has not been a locally driven pay review it is purely in 
response to the requirement to implement the 2018 - 20 national pay agreement.  
Whilst there is a positive outcome for all employees affected with a minimum 2% 
uplift in pay across the board the implementation of a revised local pay model does 
constitute a variation to contract. Whilst the new national pay spine has been agreed 
through the National Joint Council this collective agreement does not extend to any 
changes we are required to make to local pay structures in order to implement.  
Therefore, it is for each Council to implement the changes through negotiation and 
separate local collective agreement with the trade unions.  

The clear objective has been to seek a local collective agreement with the joint trade 
unions to vary terms and conditions which will be incorporated in to the contract of 
employment of all employees covered by the agreement.  

Constructive discussions have led to Salford City Council being the first Local 
Authority in the North West to reach a collective agreement with the joint trade 
unions.

3.1 Financial Implications of new pay model

The implementation of the agreement for 2019-20 including the introduction of the 
new pay spine has financial implications, however these have already been factored 
in to the budget assumptions for 2019/20.  Based on the initial modelling the overall 
costs including incremental progression, the 2% uplift and the introduction of the new 
model have been estimated at £2.7 million for the council.  Full financial modelling is 
currently being undertaken to include forecasting for incremental progression over 
the next 4 years and service directorate impact.  A full breakdown of the different 
costs will be provided once this work is complete.

Page 6



5

4. Framework for apprentice pay 

Developing the right skilled, flexible and resilient workforce able to achieve our 
ambition of ‘A Better and Fairer Salford’, can only be achieved if we invest in skills 
and professional development and we continue to attract and retain the best talent 
into the organisation. 

High quality skills and professional development delivered through apprenticeships 
for both new and existing employees can make a positive contribution to this by 
creating opportunities for people, of all ages, to undertake relevant qualifications, 
helping to raise skills, capabilities and aspirations.

Adopting a more strategic approach to how we attract, retain and develop our 
workforce to meet organisational needs both now and in the future is vital and 
apprenticeships are an integral part of this approach. The Councils Apprenticeship 
Strategy offers the opportunity to provide routes into the organisation as well as 
enabling our existing workforce to undertake relevant accredited skills qualifications. 

Given the focus on creating and recruiting to new apprenticeships it is important that 
the council has a clear framework that is financially viable and equitable for the 
agreed pay rates for apprentices.  In line with our commitment to ensuring that wages 
(salaries) in the city can sustain families and individuals all new apprentice posts will 
be paid a minimum of £8.25 on entry and the Foundation Living Wage of £9.00 per 
hour within 12 months.  

5. Local Government Transparency Code 2014 

In October 2014 the Department for Communities and Local Government published 
its Local Government Transparency Code which requires the council to publish 
certain information relating to senior employees pay and pay dispersion.  

The Code requires the council to publish the pay multiple which is defined as the 
ratio between the highest paid salary and the median salary of the whole of the 
authority’s workforce.   The pay policy statement includes these ratios to reflect those 
requirements and has highlighted that Salford remains at one of the lowest levels 
regionally with the highest to lowest paid reported at 1:9.28. 

6. Gender Pay Gap Reporting Requirements

The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 has 
introduced specific requirements for public sector employers with more than 250 staff 
to publish information relating to their gender pay gap on an annual basis. 

There are six calculations under the regulations captured on a snapshot date of 31st 
March 2017. The two key calculations are the mean and median gender pay gap. 
The mean gender pay difference for Salford City Council is 13.3% and the median 
gender pay difference is 15.4%.  The position has improved during the twelve months 
between reporting dates with the mean falling by 1.3% and the median by 3.9%.  

Page 7



6

As explained in the first gender pay gap report, gender pay is different to equal pay 
whereby men and women employed by the same organisation performing equal work 
must receive equal pay. As a responsible employer we ensure fairness, equity and 
equal pay compliance in all our pay structures and monitor robustly through an 
annual equal pay audit to make sure our male and female employees continue to be 
paid equally. 

Gender pay is the difference in the average hourly earnings of men and women 
within an organisation and is largely affected by workforce composition. Whilst we 
are pleased that our gender pay gap has reduced since the last reporting period we 
still have a high proportion of females concentrated in our lowest quartile. This 
relates to a high proportion of females occupying our lower paid roles such as 
catering and cleaning. We are proud to be able to retain service delivery in house, 
providing flexible working opportunities for Salford residents. Changes to our local 
pay model mean that those in the lowest quartile are set to receive pay increases of 
up to 7.13%.

Further details are contained within the draft pay policy statement (Appendix 1).  
The legislation only requires the figures to be published however a report is being 
produced to supplement the figures which provides further information and context 
behind the figure. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

THAT the content of the draft Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20 be noted and 
commended for approval by Council at its meeting on (insert date).

THAT the gender pay gap information is noted including the publication 
requirements.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  Jeanette Williams, Senior Solicitor, Legal 
Services 

The draft Statement sets out the Councils policy with regards to remuneration in 
accordance with requirements under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 and 
associated guidance.  

Page 8



7

It ensures compliance with all relevant employment legislation and reporting 
requirements specific to public sector employers.  The Councils’ workforce and pay 
strategies contained within the Statement demonstrate the Council’s commitment to 
equality and diversity and ensures proper remuneration of its employees in line with 
both legislative requirements and the framework set by the Council’s Constitution and 
Scheme of Delegation.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Paul Hutchings, Strategic Finance 
Manager (ext 2574)

As identified in the main body of the report, the additional cost of implementing the 
new model is estimated to be £2.700m.  This figure has been included as part of the 
budget setting process for 2019/20.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  Catherine Sharples, Strategic HR and OD 
Manager

Contained within the body of the report.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Samantha Betts, Assistant Director, Human Resources & 
Organisational Development, samantha.betts@salford.gov.uk 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 

Page 9

mailto:samantha.betts@salford.gov.uk


8Page 10



1

Pay Policy Statement:

2019/20

Page 11



2

1. Introduction & Purpose

This Pay Policy Statement sets out the council’s approach to pay policy in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 and due 
regard to the associated Statutory Guidance including the Supplementary Statutory 
Guidance issued in February 2013 and the Local Government Transparency Code 
2015.

Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives local authorities the power to appoint 
officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority thinks fit, the pay policy 
sets out how the council exercises this power.

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regards to the council’s 
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying:

 the methods by which salaries of employees are determined;
 the detail and level of remuneration of our most senior staff i.e. ‘chief officers’, 

at Assistant Director level and above.

Once approved by full council this policy statement will come into immediate effect 
and will be subject to review on an annual basis.

2. Scope of the Pay Policy Statement 

The statement relates to employees of Salford City Council whose remuneration, 
including rate of pay and terms and conditions, are determined by and within the 
control of the authority.  It therefore does not apply to:

 All employees working in schools;
 Individuals employed by a third party contracted to work for the authority i.e. 

agency workers;
 Employees on secondment where their rates of pay or terms and conditions 

are not determined by the authority;
 Individuals  employed through the authority on behalf of a third party where 

remuneration and other terms and conditions are not determined by the 
Authority;

 Volunteers or work experience placements.

3. Other matters relating to pay arrangements

The council takes steps to ensure that there is no pay discrimination within its pay 
structures and in determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, 
complies with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation such as 
the Employment Rights Act 1996, Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000 and where relevant, 
the obligation to protect salaries under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations. 

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels, the council takes 
account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use of public 

Page 12



3

expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able 
to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to the community, 
delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are required.

4. Context

Salford City Council is going through a period of significant growth, reform and 
transformation as a result of a number of political, economic and social drivers and 
challenges, national and local, some of which are identified below.  We recognise the need 
for flexibility to be able to respond to a changing landscape and our pay policy 
arrangements have been developed to reflect this. 

Mayoral Priorities – The Great Eight

Salford has changed and is continuing to change; at the heart of 
our approach are ambitious plans to transform Salford into a 
modern global city where we can all make a real difference to 
the lives of Salford people. By delivering our ‘Great Eight’ 
priorities we will achieve our vision for a better and fairer Salford.  
Our vision is underpinned by these priorities of tackling poverty 
and inequality, education and skills, health and social care, 
economic development, housing, transport, a transparent 
effective organisation and social impact.  Tackling poverty is key 
to delivering our vision, as one of the largest employers in the 
city we have a role to play as an exemplar for the wider Salford 
workforce.  With 60% of our employees resident in the city the 
Council has a key role to play in setting an equitable pay 
structure, preventing people from falling into poverty through our 
approach to pay, and ensuring that those in the lowest paid jobs 
receive a fair living wage. 

The Anti-Poverty strategy, ‘No One Left Behind’ creates a vision 
for a fairer and more inclusive Salford, where everyone is able to 
reach their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling lives 
free from poverty and inequality.  Low pay is recognised as a key 
cause of poverty and ensuring that wages and income levels are 
fair and appropriate, enables residents to fully participate in the 
life of the community.  To help achieve this vision, collective efforts are focussed on the 
activities likely to have the most substantial and long lasting impact in reducing poverty in 
the city.

Social Value

Salford as a city is one of the leading areas nationally for building social value. The creation 
of the Social Value Alliance, Social Value pledge and online toolkit ensures that the social 
impact of activity across the city is understood and prioritised. Salford City Council 
produced its first social value policy and impact report in 2017 and we are now looking at 
the progress made against all of our pledges and showing how we are using social value 
for a better and fairer Salford. 

Page 13

https://www.salford.gov.uk/priorities


4

Our mission is to continue to look at the relevant and additional social, environmental and 
economic value from everything that we do, including service delivery, commissioning and 
procurement. Salford City Council is committed to continuing to deliver the Social Value 
Alliance 10% Better Campaign outcomes, develop a values based ethos, promote 
leadership around social value and collaborate with others to maximise the benefit to 
Salford from social impact.  

Employment Standards Charter

The City Council sets the standard as an exemplar employer and must ensure that all our 
remuneration and employment policies, procedures and practices reflect our Employment 
Standards Charter.  Leading the way we will promote the Foundation Living Wage as a 
minimum standard, access to training and development, no zero hours contracts, and no 
blacklisting policy to employers across the city creating growth and prosperity.

Fiscal challenges 

We need to ensure provision of services within a significantly reduced and ever-reducing 
financial envelope, which in turn requires a continuing reduction in workforce numbers and 
service redesign.  Balanced with the continuing need to attract and retain talent in the 
workforce.  

Reform 

Set in the context of reducing resources and growth in the city, together with the challenge 
we have set ourselves to do things ‘quicker, easier and better,’ we need to develop new 
ways of working with our partners, residents and vibrant voluntary and community sector to 
make the best use of the city’s collective resource.  To achieve this we need a flexible, 
skilled, customer focused, motivated and outcomes focused workforce with the right values 
base that is empowered to innovate and ‘take charge’ of how they deliver services.

We will continue to transform our services to the public with the Greater Manchester model 
of public service delivery being central to our work at a regional and local level.  

A place-based and person centred approach continues to drive reform at a locality and 
neighbourhood level. Salford’s Locality Plan sets out our strategic approach to improving 
health and care outcomes for residents of the city. The health and care workforce 
comprises a significant proportion of the working population of Salford as a whole and 
therefore workforce transformation is a key priority over the next five years. 

Salford is aiming to become a Digital City, an ambition 
which supports the vision for a better, fairer Salford to 
improve our residents’ lives.  We are strongly committed to 
digital inclusion – making sure that residents and our 
workforce have the digital capability to maximise the use of 
technology and the internet.  

Salford is proud to have been named Overall DL100 
Winner 2018 (Digital Leaders) and Digital Council of the 

Page 14



5

Year at the prestigious DL100 awards ceremony. This has become the premier list 
identifying individuals and teams leading digital transformation in the UK. Salford won both 
awards for its bold ambitions and innovations in the way it is digitally transforming services 
to the public.

The appointment of a City Chief Digital Officer (CDO) to lead the digital transformation of 
Salford is a clear indication of our ambition and desire to build networks and relationships 
across the wider region. Salford also has aspirations to become a Digital Council. We are 
using digital transformation to ensure services are quicker, easier and better for everyone 
through the introduction of a transactional website and webchat to many other new and 
exciting digital developments, the council is empowering residents and improving access to 
information and services.  We also want to make sure no one is left behind as digital 
becomes the way to access services, communicate with organisations, and interact with 
friends and family. 

Working with Good Things Foundation to deliver Digital You, our landmark digital inclusion 
project across the city to help the most disadvantaged residents gain the confidence and 
capability to become independent users of computers and the internet. Digital is 
fundamental to how modern society works – 90% of new jobs require digital skills, and our 
health, wellbeing and social lives are increasingly underpinned by digital tools and 
resources.  

Our programmes of reform at a place and regional level are changing how we currently 
operate, how we shape our workforce and adopt new ways of working.  This has required a 
different approach to how we organise and design our services. Changes at an 
organisational level mean that we operate less through formal structures and more about 
bringing together officers across the council to deliver effective cross cutting outcome 
projects. This enables employees to come together in to project teams if they are the right 
person, regardless of their day to day role – to get the job done.

Our service reform directorate puts reform at the 
core of the organisation and brings together 
enabling functions to drive change in line with our 
redesign approach. This centres on true co-design 
and co-production and engagement with all 
stakeholders ensuring all have a voice and input in 
to designing services.  Leaders are challenged to 
empower employees to change what gets in the 
way allowing those who do the work to own and 
lead the change.  This approach also reflects the 
important role of technology, end user involvement 
(employees and residents), and understanding the user experience and customer journey 
as part of the redesign of our services.

This approach will continue to ensure that our workforce is connected with, and delivers on 
the vision, themes and priorities of the City Council. 

Page 15

https://www.digileaders100.com/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/digital-salford/salford-s-first-chief-digital-officer/
https://www.goodthingsfoundation.org/salford


6

Leading Salford

The role of Leaders continues to change with expectations of leading in a whole place and 
system as well as within and on behalf of the City Council.  The #LeadingSalford leadership 
framework has been developed with clear expectations of leaders and managers in Salford. 

This framework builds on the Greater Manchester 
leadership expectations and has provided clarity of 
expectations in terms of how leaders and managers 
operate and their behaviours. It is underpinned by a 
consistent approach to leadership development and has 
been designed to enable everybody to understand what it 
means to be a leader in Salford. 

Managers are the single most important factor in employee engagement, motivation, 
building a productive workplace and employee retention. Effective leaders and managers 
are critical to the success of reforming public services and therefore investment in 
developing their skills is essential.  

Growth in the City 

The city has seen exceptional levels of growth over recent years.  More people than ever 
before are choosing Salford as a place to live, work, invest and visit. 

The council is concerned to ensure that wages (salaries) in the city can sustain families and 
individuals and underpin a thriving economy. Our new local pay model ensures a minimum 
hourly rate of £9.25 for those on graduate programmes and higher level apprenticeships 
with a minimum hourly rate for all other Council employees of £9.44 from 1st April 2019. 
These rates are significantly higher than the Foundation Living Wage of £9.00 per hour.   

The Council does however continue to use its influence as a civic leader to encourage 
others to pay the living wage – with the ultimate aim of leading Salford to becoming a living 
wage city. This aim is supported by the charter for employment standards which sets the 
benchmark for working conditions in the council as an exemplar employer and for other 
employers across the city including the living wage.  

5. Workforce Strategy 

The vision for our future workforce together with the framework and approaches required to 
achieve this are outlined in our Workforce Strategy.  The strategy is designed to support the 
council to develop a skilled and motivated workforce to deliver our mission to create the 
best quality of life for the people of Salford.  It is only through our people that we will realise 
these ambitions for the city.

The Workforce Strategy is being refreshed in line with the Great Eight priorities and the 
public service reform agenda from 2019 onwards. This strategy sets out how we are 
leading the way to make Salford a great place to work. It includes how we intend to develop 
our talent, embed flexible and smart working practices, improve wellbeing, inclusion, 
performance and digital skills, reshape our workforce to encourage innovation and 
creativity, and to embed values-based leadership and a positive permission culture. 

Page 16



7

The strategy aims to support the City Council in achieving the skilled, motivated, flexible 
and diverse workforce needed to deliver placed based, integrated services that make a 
difference to the people of Salford.  We recognise that our success as an organisation is 
dependent on the commitment, dedication and approach of every person that works across 
the system with the Spirit of Salford and values at the heart of everything we do. 

Our core values are;

Pride
I’m proud of and committed to our city, its people, our work, and 
I demonstrate the ‘Spirit of Salford’ in everything I do.

Passion
I am optimistic and ambitious for the city and its people, being 
creative and positive about change and making the most of 
opportunities.

People
I respect and care for others, treating everyone fairly, listening 
and acting on the things people say.

Personal Responsibility 
I am honest, taking responsibility and ownership for my actions 
and decisions and using resources that I am trusted with wisely.  

The values inform the way we operate and influence our 
choices, behaviours, how we make decisions and transform 
services.  

By putting the values into practice individuals demonstrate personal commitment to ‘be the 
best they can be’ in the way that they do their jobs, provide quality services, deliver the 
priorities and make a difference to the people of Salford.

6. Pay strategy and salary structure

As one of the largest employers in the city the council is mindful of the impact of its 
employment and remuneration policies and practices on the local economy and 
communities.  The proportion of council employees (excluding schools) who live in 
the city as of January 2019 is around 60%.  This means that they not only serve the 
people of Salford but are also direct recipients of council services and contribute to 
the local economy.  

It is vital therefore that the council remains an exemplar employer through its 
employment frameworks and practices and is seen as an ‘employer of choice’ to 
attract and retain employees of a high calibre throughout the organisation.  

Page 17



8

The council’s approach includes:
 The internal operation of the Employment Standards Charter which sets out 

minimum employment standards (including the living wage) and encouraging 
its adoption by other organisations securing fair remuneration and 
employment practices across the city.

 Delivery of the Workforce Strategy objectives.
 Managing changes in workforce numbers, roles, skills and working patterns to meet 

changes in service delivery models by further developing the internal labour market 
through talent management, development of the creating capacity programme, 
maximising the opportunities provided through the apprentice levy, succession 
planning and career pathways.

 Through the City Council’s reform agenda, adopting a change management 
approach to service redesign, which focuses on employee engagement and 
involvement in the redesign of the services that they deliver.  To ensure 
organisational agility this approach centres on the purpose, functions and outcomes 
for services, rather than how they are currently organised and structured.  This 
approach to organisation design will enable the council to effectively adapt and 
respond to change whilst also developing and shaping the workforce for the future.   

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels, the council takes 
account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use of public 
expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able 
to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to the community, 
delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are required.

The council will use flexible and innovative approaches to workforce planning through its 
Creating Capacity programme together with maximising the opportunities which the 
apprentice levy brings, developing skills, capacity and opportunities for progression 
combined with the creation of entry level opportunities and apprenticeships.

Salary structure

The council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of salary 
points) as the basis for the pay structure in place to determine the salaries of the 
majority of its (non-teaching) workforce, together with the use of locally determined 
rates where these do not apply.  

The council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the 
establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any 
agreed annual pay increases negotiated through the National Joint Councils. 

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 
negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
collective bargaining machinery.  

New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay scale 
for the grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best 
candidate within the parameters of the salary scale as determined via the job 

Page 18



9

evaluation process. The decision on the salary to be offered will be delegated to the 
appointment panel for the post.

From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels in 
the labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, 
skills and capacity.  Where necessary, the council will ensure the requirement for 
such is objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of 
relevant market comparators, using data sources available from within the local 
government sector and outside, as appropriate and in line with the agreed Market 
Enhancement Policy. 

In addition, any temporary supplement (honorarium) to the salary scale for the grade 
is approved in line with the Scheme of Delegation and Council Constitution. 

7. National Joint Council for Local Government Employees (NJC) Pay and 
Grading Arrangements

Posts under NJC terms and conditions are all evaluated through the nationally 
agreed NJC job evaluation scheme. This scheme covers the vast majority of posts 
within the council, and extends from spinal column point 1 of the new national pay 
spine for the lowest paid staff, to senior roles at spinal column point 46. 

A small number of non-teaching posts are paid in accordance with the Joint National 
Council for Youth and Community Workers terms and conditions and those set by 
the Soulbury Committee.  In addition, there are a number of teachers employed 
directly by the council who are paid in line with School Teachers pay and conditions.

The national pay agreement for 2018 and 2019 was agreed on the 10th April 2018 by the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services.  This two year agreement addressed 
the changes required to meet the national living wage ensuring that the national pay spine 
met the proposed increases over the next two years.

The first year (2018) of the agreement was ‘bottom loaded’ to close the gap with the 
national living wage and meant that the bottom spinal column points (SCP) saw an increase 
of up to 9.19% with all SCP’s over point 20 receiving 2%.  The second year (2019) provides 
for a pay award of 2% across all SCP’s however in order to manage the national living 
wage increases there has also been a fundamental review of the national pay spine.

The new national pay spine begins at point 1, introduces a number of ‘new’ points and the 
top of the spine has been set at SCP 43.  The current national pay spine has 49 points with 
the reduction in pay points being achieved by consolidating a number of the points at the 
bottom of the pay spine.  

As well as seeking to manage the implementation of the national living wage the revised 
pay spine also sought to address some of the disparity between the increments and to 
introduce more uniform incremental progression. The aim was to ensure no more than a 
2% increase between SCP’s which has been achieved by the consolidation of the lower 
points and the introduction of some new SCP’s around the middle of the pay spine.

Page 19



10

The new national pay spine changes local pay models, which in effect is a variation to 
contract, and therefore the Council has reached a local collective agreement with the Trade 
Unions to implement the changes from 1st April 2019.

The local pay model which implements the new national pay spine offers minimal disruption 
and maintains the integrity of the current local pay model and structure including grade 
boundaries and job evaluation scores and delivers on the key principles agreed with the 
trade unions.

A full equal pay audit and impact analysis has been undertaken of the revised pay structure 
which demonstrates that there are no gender inequality concerns.

8. Chief Officer Pay and Grading Arrangements 
 

The council’s Chief Officers, as defined by the Localism Act, constitutes the Senior 
Leadership Team which is directly responsible for the key functions of the 
organisation.  The Hutton Report acknowledged that high quality public services 
require high calibre leaders to deliver them.  Vital to this is to ensure that public 
service leaders are adequately and fairly rewarded.  If senior officers are 
inadequately rewarded it will be more difficult to attract and retain individuals of the 
calibre required to lead on public service reform. 

 
The council uses the chief officer job evaluation scheme developed by the Local 
Government Employers. This scheme applies to all senior posts paid on locally 
determined salary points from spinal column point 53 and above, incorporating all 
chief officer posts.  This provides assurance that all pay differentials can be 
objectively justified through the use of job evaluation mechanisms, which directly 
establish the relative levels of posts and grades according to the requirements, 
demands and responsibilities of the role. 

The posts within the council falling within the definition ‘chief officers’ as defined 
within the Localism Act are those at second tier which is Assistant Director and 
above and constitutes the council’s Senior Leadership Team.  Information regarding 
their salaries is available on the council’s website together with information on posts 
with a salary greater than £50,000.

In line with Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 posts where the full time 
equivalent salary is at least £50,000 will be referenced in the council’s Annual 
Statement of Accounts which will include a note setting out the total amount of:

 salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the current and 
previous year;

 any bonuses so paid or receivable by the person in the current and previous 
year;

 any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable to UK 
income tax;

 any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments connected 
with termination; 

 any benefits received that do not fall within the above.

Page 20



11

In line with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 the council also 
publishes an organisation structure chart covering staff in the top three levels, 
together with a list of all posts with a salary that exceeds £50,000 including details of 
duties and responsibilities and contact details. 

This information can be found on the finance pages, the FOI pages and the open 
data pages of the website.

As part of the wider Green Wheels Travel Plan, the City Council introduced a car 
club for all business travel in 2015 and all Chief Officers are covered by this scheme.   

Progression through the incremental scale of the relevant grade is subject to 
satisfactory performance, which is assessed on an annual basis in accordance with 
the arrangements and factors set out within the council’s agreed performance review 
scheme. There is no additional remuneration which is subject to performance e.g. 
performance related pay or bonuses of any kind.

9. Election Fees

The council is required to provide funding to the Returning Officer to discharge 
statutory functions relating to the administration of local government elections.  The 
Returning Officer sets and makes payments for the management and administration 
of local elections from resources made available by the council.  The Returning 
Officer will make payments to those officers who undertake specific duties in relation 
to the elections (including chief officers) depending on their role.  The Chief 
Executive does not receive any additional payment for work in relation to local 
elections.

Any fees payable for duties in connection with Parliamentary and European 
elections, Police and Crime Commissioner elections and national referenda are 
funded by Central Government.  Consequently, any such payments made to those 
officers who undertake specific duties in relation to these elections and referenda 
(including chief officers and the Chief Executive) are not funded by the council.

10. Pay ratios 

The council does not have a target for the ratio between the pay of the highest earners and 
other employees. It does not propose to set one for the foreseeable future, accepting the 
judgement as summarised on page four of the Hutton Report, that such targets serve no 
useful purpose. However, it will monitor this relationship to ensure that the remuneration of 
the highest paid is not excessive and remains consistent with the needs of the council as 
expressed in this policy statement.  The current salary multiple between the highest paid 
(Chief Executive) and both the lowest and median rates for all officers within the scope of 
this policy are set out below:

Highest to lowest paid (£156,584 - £16,863) 1:9.29

Highest to median pay (£156,584 - £23,111) 1:6.78 

Page 21



12

11. Equal Pay Audit

The City Council undertakes an annual equal pay audit comparing the pay of 
protected groups who are doing equal work in the authority, investigating the causes 
of any pay gaps by gender, ethnicity, disability, age, or working pattern and putting in 
place plans to close any gaps that cannot be justified on grounds other than one of 
those characteristics. 

A full audit of the new pay model has been undertaken and based on the current 
analysis no statistically significant pay gaps have been identified for any of the 
protected groups.  

The council is committed to improving the levels of equalities data held, and the 
position in relation to equal pay will be monitored and reported on an annual basis. 

12. Gender Pay Gap

The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 introduced 
specific requirements for public sector employers with more than 250 employees to publish 
the following information relating to their gender pay gap:

 The difference in mean pay between male and female employees
 The difference in median pay between male and female employees
 The difference in mean bonus pay between male and female employees
 The difference in median bonus pay between male and female employees
 The proportions of male and female employees who were paid bonus pay; and
 The proportions of male and female employees in each quartile of their pay 

distribution.

The mean gender pay difference for Salford City Council is 13.3 %. The median gender pay 
difference is 15.4%. There is no bonus gender pay gap as the City Council does not 
operate any bonus pay scheme. 

The following graph shows the proportion of male and female employees in each quartile of 
their pay distribution: 

493

552

570

678

322

263

244

136

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800

Upper Quartile

Upper Middle Quartile

Lower Middle Quartile

Lower Quartile

male female

Quartile Information

Page 22



13

During the last 12 months we have seen some progress as the mean gender pay gap has 
reduced by 1.3% and the median pay gap has reduced by 3.9%. We have seen an increase 
in the percentage of females across our upper middle and upper quartiles which are our 
most senior roles and grades. There are also more females than ever before accessing our 
leadership development programme. We continue to offer flexible working arrangements at 
all levels across the Council to ensure a positive work/life blend for all employees 
irrespective of grade.

Within our lower pay bands, the introduction of our new pay arrangements mean that over 
400 female employees will receive more than a 7% increase in their hourly rate. Further 
analysis has also been undertaken to look at our proportional gender pay gap which takes 
account of workforce composition at each pay grade across the organisation. Further 
information is provided in Salford City Council’s Gender Pay Gap Report. 

Gender pay differs to equal pay whereby men and women in the same employment 
performing equal work must receive equal pay. This is set out in legislation, to which 
Salford City Council as an employer is fully compliant. We will continue to undertake an 
annual pay audit and ensure there continues to be equity of pay between male and female 
employees.

12. Recruitment of Chief Officers

The council’s procedures in relation to recruitment of chief officers is set out within 
the Council’s Constitution and Scheme of Delegation, and is undertaken by an 
appointment panel in accordance with the Constitutional arrangements. Full council 
will be offered the opportunity to vote before a salary package exceeding £100,000 is 
offered in respect of a new appointment.

When recruiting to all posts the council will ensure inclusive, fair, efficient and 
effective recruitment practices are in place taking full and proper account of all 
provisions of relevant employment law whilst also developing the internal market 
through talent management and succession planning.

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed chief 
officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at 
the time of recruitment.  The salary will be delegated to the appointment panel to 
determine in consultation with the Chief Executive.

Where the council is unable to recruit chief officers, or there is a need for interim 
support to provide cover for a substantive chief officer post, the council will, where 
necessary, consider engaging individuals under a ‘contract for service’.  These will 
be sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring the council is able to 
demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from competition in securing the 
relevant service.  In assessing such it should be noted that in respect of such 
engagements the council is not required to make either pension or national 
insurance contributions for such individuals. The council does not currently have any 
chief officers engaged under such arrangements.

Page 23



14

13. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

With the exception of progression through the incremental scale of the relevant 
grade being subject to satisfactory performance, which is assessed on an annual 
basis, the level of remuneration is not variable dependent upon the achievement of 
defined targets. 

14. Payments on termination & re-employment / re-engagement of former 
employees

The councils approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 
employment of chief officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is consistent 
with the approach for such payments made to all council employees. All payments 
are subject to approval in line with the Scheme of Delegation and Council 
Constitution.   Senior officers i.e. those in the top three levels of the organisation are 
also required to enter in to a termination agreement once formal approval has been 
agreed, which amongst other things places restrictions on their immediate 
employment options.

The council is currently operating a voluntary scheme whereby employees may 
apply for voluntary severance or voluntary early retirement. Payments under the 
voluntary severance scheme are calculated on the basis of length of service, age 
and salary to a maximum of 30 weeks’ pay. The voluntary aspect of the scheme 
currently attracts an enhancement equivalent to 12 weeks’ pay.  Employees aged 55 
or over who are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme may apply for 
the early release of their existing pension benefits under the voluntary early 
retirement scheme. 

Employees who access either voluntary severance or voluntary early retirement 
agree (as part of the terms of the package) not to be re-employed by the council for 
a period of five years (VER) or two years (VS).

In accordance with the Supplementary Statutory Guidance on openness and 
accountability in local pay issued in February 2013 any severance packages with a 
value in excess of £100,000 will be approved by council before they are agreed.  

The policy applies to all severance packages whether or not made pursuant to a 
settlement agreement. 

In 2016 the Government announced the intention to cap public sector termination 
payments at £95,000 (inclusive of costs associated with early access of pension 
benefits) and that it also intends to require higher paid public sector staff (those 
earning £80,000 or more) to repay some or all of their severance payment if they 
return to the same part of the public sector within 12 months of the date of 
termination.  The details of these changes remain unclear and an implementation 
date is yet to be confirmed.

When the changes are implemented they will have an impact on the Council's policy 
in respect of termination payments and in particular on the Voluntary Early 

Page 24



15

Retirement Scheme.  The Council's policies in respect of pay and pensions will be 
amended in accordance with any changes in legislation. 

15. Publication

Following approval by the full council, this statement will be published on the 
council’s website.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 January 2019
	4 Pay Policy Statement / Pay Matters
	04 - Pay Policy Statement 2019-20


